
 

 

 
ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND SERVICES SCRUTINY PANEL 

 

Date: Wednesday 14th October, 2020 
Time: 10.30 am 

Venue: Virtual 

 
AGENDA 

 

Please note: this is a virtual meeting. 
 
The meeting will be live-streamed via the Council’s Youtube 
channel at 10.30 am on Wednesday 14th October, 2020 

 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for Absence 
 
 

  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 
To receive any declarations of interest. 
 
 

  

3.   Minutes- Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel - 16 
September 2020 
 
 

 3 - 8 

4.   Integration of Health and Social Care - Verbal Update 
 
The Director of Adult Social Care and Health Integration will 
provide the Panel with a verbal update regarding the 
integration of Health and Social Care. 
 
 

  

5.   'Physical Activity for Older People (Aged 65-Plus)' - Draft 
Final Report 
 
Recommendation: 
To consider the content of the report and agree conclusions 
and recommendations for submission to the Executive. 
 
 

 9 - 52 

Page 1

https://www.youtube.com/user/middlesboroughcouncil
https://www.youtube.com/user/middlesboroughcouncil


 

6.   Scrutiny work programme 
 
 

 53 - 54 

7.   Chair's OSB Update 
 
 

  

8.   Any other urgent items which in the opinion of the Chair, may 
be considered. 
 
 

  

 
Charlotte Benjamin 
Director of Legal and Governance Services 

 
Town Hall 
Middlesbrough 
Date Not Specified 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors J Platt (Chair), S Hill (Vice-Chair), D Jones, G Purvis, D Rooney, J Walker and 
G Wilson 
 
Assistance in accessing information 
 
Should you have any queries on accessing the Agenda and associated information 
please contact Susie Blood, 01642 729645, susie_blood@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

Page 2



Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel 16 September 2020 

1  

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND SERVICES SCRUTINY PANEL  
 
A meeting of the Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel was held on 16 September 2020. 
 
PRESENT:  Councillors S Hill, J Platt, G Purvis, J A Walker and T Higgins(As Substitute)  
 
OFFICERS:  R Bedford, K Bainbridge, S Blood, S Hydon , D Johnson, C Lunn and E Scollay  
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  Councillor D Jones, Councillor D Rooney, Councillor G Wilson, 
Councillor J Goodchild. 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 
 
None declared 
 
 1 MINUTES FROM THE MEETING HELD ON 29 JULY 2020 

 
The meetings of the meeting held on 29 July 2020 were read and accepted as a true record. 
  
AGREED- That the minutes be approved 

 

 
 2 INTEGRATION OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE - VERBAL UPDATE 

 
The Chair welcomed the Director of Adult Social Care and Health Integration to the meeting. 
The Director outlined that in terms of health integration, for the past 6 months Covid-19 had 
dominated Adult social care and will continue to do so until the level of infection decreases. 
  
The Director outlined that one of the key strands of work being undertaken within Adult Social 
Care was focussing on mental health. It was evident that there were increasing levels of social 
isolation caused by Covid 19 and there has been an increase of cases of post- traumatic 
stress disorder (PTSD) and those suffering from neurological impacts due to either having 
Covid or seeing the effects of a loved one with the disease. 
  
Tees Esk and Wear Valley have estimated a 5 year demand on mental health services 
caused by the impact of Covid-19. by Covid 19. The Director outlined that at the last meeting 
of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Board, the Board considered how the a whole system 
approach could work together to meet additional demand on mental health services and it was 
proposed that a Wellbeing Network be established. The Director outlined that he would 
provide further updates on the Wellbeing Network at future meetings of the panel. 
  
Following on from the Director's update, a number of questions were posed. The first was in 
relation to mental health services and how these can be addressed. In response, the Director 
outlined that there is an increasing demand on services, and the Mental Health Trust was 
committed to looking at a longer term plan for accommodating the demand. However at 
present, the Panel were advised to refer any residents struggling with mental health issues to 
their GP. 
  
A  panel member also queried testing, in particular the length of time to receive a test and 
distance to a testing centre. The Director outlined that testing was an issue, however this was 
Countrywide. The Health Protection Board and Strategic co-ordinating group (Teesside) 
discussed this regularly however the demand on testing was out of their control. The Director 
also did advise that these groups would discuss additional local restrictions if they felt positive 
testing was Covid -19 was on the increase. The Democratic Services Officer also advised the 
Panel that the Chief Executive would be updating the Overview and Scrutiny Board at its next 
meeting on Covid-19 in Middlesbrough and would discuss testing. 
  
A panel member also referred to the discussion at the last meeting in relation to day centres 
and whether these were reopening. In response, the Director outlined that day centres would 
be reopening towards the end of September, and contact had been made with those families 
who use the centres. Opening would be done under Covid-19 guidance and opening of the 
centres would very much be determined on the level of infection across the town. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel 16 September 2020 

2  

  
The level of suicide rates in Middlesbrough was also queried and the Director outlined he 
would provide a written response to the Panel following the meeting. 
  
The Director was thanked for his contribution and asked to convey his thanks for his teams for 
the excellent work within the service area during the pandemic. 
  
AGREED- that the update be noted.  
 

 
 3 PHYSICAL ACTIVITY FOR OLDER PEOPLE (AGED 65+)- EFFECT OF COVID 19 

 
The Chair welcomed Scott Lloyd, Advanced Public Health Practitioner to the meeting, Scott 
Hydon, Sport and Client Relationship Manager, Robin Bedford, Health and Physical Activity 
Development Manager and Kelly Bainbridge, Better Care Fund Project Manager to the 
meeting. 
  
The Chair invited the officers to speak in turn to update the Panel in relation to what the 
services have been doing during the pandemic to support physical activity for older people. 
  
Scott Lloyd, Advanced Public Health Practitioner, advised that services to promote physical 
activity for older people have been adapted during the pandemic, which have included the 
following: 
  
 

1. During the pandemic, a booklet was developed by colleagues in Sheffield containing 
exercises for older people to do at home. The booklet was well received by older 
people in Sheffield, which resulted in Public Health England publishing the booklet 
nationally. Middlesbrough Council was issued with 5,000 to be distributed evenly 
between older people in Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland who do not have/ 
wish to have a computer/phone. The booklet has also been made available online. 

2. The Panel were advised that at the beginning of the pandemic there were a number of 
requests for digital content from the team, however a strategic decision was made 
filming would be difficult. It was therefore agreed that quality assured material would 
be used and circulated and the team developed an online resource with this. 

3. The Public Health South Tees, Health Development team created a 30 day physical 
activity challenge which was distributed and made digitally available.  

4. The team continued to do support calls to the most vulnerable older people with 
regard to physical activity. 

5. During the summer months when restrictions were eased, the team worked with 
partners to create their own exercise videos. Mandy Groves, one of the team created 
a 15 Minute Tai Chi session. The video was uploaded on the 'You've Got This' 
facebook page and received 195,999 views. The exercise was designed to help 
prevent falls as well as increasing core strength. The team also uploaded a 'step 
exercise' using stairs at home which received 73,000 views. The officer outlined that in 
terms of moving forward, the team were in discussion with Corporate Colleagues to 
purchase /use high quality filing equipment. A Panel member queried whether there 
was breakdown of analysis of views and the officer outlined this would be circulated 
after the meeting. 

6. You're Got This (YGT) Team have continued their work with older people. YGT was 
working with Middlesbrough Voluntary Development Agency (MVDA) and Redcar and 
Cleveland Voluntary Development Agency (RCVDA) to invite applications to its small 
grants programme from local individuals, charities, community groups and 
organisations across Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland that supports the 
vision to help the least active become more active whilst recognising the limitations of 
Covid-19 and social distancing. The fund was currently open to bids and information 
could be found at the following: 
https://mvda.info/news/new-your-active-living-fund-help-south-tees-people-more-activ
e.  A member queried where YGT are advertised and in response, the officer outlined 
that they have public facing pages on Facebook and Instagram and a Facebook and 
Linkdin account for professions. 

 

Page 4



Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel 16 September 2020 

3  

7. The Public Health South Tees, Health Development Team were also exploring digital 
content to appear on Channel 7 (virgin media 159)- a local TV channel called 
Teesside TV. The Older peoples Academy in Newcastle had recently funding content 
to appear on 'Made in Tyne and Wear' which was also shared on Teesside TV. 

8. Separate to You've Got This, Sports England have developed a fund to address three 
key areas: Digital exclusion, Significant Changes due to the pandemic and mental 
wellbeing. Emma McInnes and Age UK have recently put forward a bid to address 
digital exclusion by producing content to appear of Teesside TV. The bid was 
submitted to Sports England and passed the first stage and the team are now waiting 
to hear if the bid has been approved. 

 
  
Scott Hydon, Sport and Client Relationship Manager provided the Panel would an update on 
the current situation on the leisure centres. 
  
He advised that the Leisure Centres closed on 20 March 2020 in line with Government 
guidance, however since began reopening the centres in phases. 
  
 

1. Golf club reopened in June 2020 
2. Leisure centres (gyms) reopened on 1 August 2020, including outside sports activities 
3. Swimming pools reopened on 22 August 2020 

 
There has been a reasonably strong return, Everyone Active, operated by Sports and Leisure 
Management Ltd (SML) expected a 50% capacity raising to 70%, which was a projection 
made by Sports England. 50% was a baseline taking into account social distancing and 
confidence of the service users. 
  
SLM have strict measures in place to ensure centres are Covid Safe, these include hand 
sanitation stations throughout the buildings, clear entrance and exit signs and well as signs for 
social distancing. They also have strategic risk assessments in place. 
  
Sports clubs are beginning to be integrated back into leisure centres, however their return has 
depended on guidance supplied by their governing bodies. 
  
Given the current circumstances, the Panel were assured that the return was very positive. All 
facilities were open and the Council felt SML were opening facilities to exceptional standards. 
  
A Panel member asked what the centres were doing to promote gym use? In response, the 
officer outlined that service users had to book a time slot, which was a 50 minutes gym 
session, which allowed 10 minutes for exit and sanitising. The officer outlined that for 
example, the Toffee Club (over 50's men's youth club) has returned and others have been 
given opportunities to return if they wish to do so. 
  
There was also a discussion surrounding the costing model for Everyone Active and whether 
there was a concessionary rate for over 60's. In response, the officer outlined that SML set 
their prices across the Board and that prior to the pandemic, gym membership was in excess 
of £30 per month. Since reopening, gym membership was £20 per month for the first 3 
months and £26.75 thereafter. There were no concessions as SML felt their prices were 
competitive to other gyms. The officer however did advise that there may be an opportunities 
for the Team to work with SLM to identify funding to offer concessions of some kind. 
  
In terms of rehab programmes, Robin Bedford, Health and Physical Activity Development 
Manager advised the Panel that face to face delivery of sessions ceased during the pandemic 
and have not been reintroduced as clients tend to be the most vulnerable. The team have 
extended their digital offer and provide telephone support. 
It is paramount to return to face to face deliver to support mental health, however the team are 
conscious many of Middlesbrough's residents may be shielding and therefore it was a blank 
slate at present. 
  
The team have also been supporting the wider offer to Middlesbrough residents by delivering 

Page 5



Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel 16 September 2020 

4  

healthy start vitamins and delivering prescriptions to the most vulnerable. 
  
The Chair lastly invited Kelly Bainbridge, Better Care Fund Manager to the meeting to provide 
an overview of the Falls Prevention Strategy. 
  
The officer outlined that over the past 3 years, a Falls Prevention Strategy has been 
developed. The strategy came about after an increase in older people falling and being 
referred to falls prevention from the Trust. This strategy was a multi -tiered alliance across the 
Health Trust, Health, Council and voluntary organisations and partners. They have developed 
an online tool to help prevent falls in the home. The tool was live however would go publically 
live on 24 September 2020. 
  
The officer demonstrated the tool, advising that consultation had taken place with older people 
to devise the brand- Steady on your feet. The tool contains a host of resources, including a 
self- assessment tool which can be shared with health professions, family members, exercise 
sheets and exercise videos (from the You've got This Team), with the underlying aim of 
keeping older people active to prevent falls. The team have worked closely with the You've 
Got This Team and Ageing better. The system allowed to collect analysis of those accessing 
the site. 
The team was busy developing train a trainer with the falls team, so that those who were 
showing the tool were able to provide assistance to older people. There is very much a 
message that falls was every bodies business. There is a strong communication and 
engagement strategy in place as it was important especially during Covid to remain active and 
prevent falls, which would in turn prevent hospital admissions.  
  
The officer also outlined that there were also leaflets and a paper based version of Steady on 
your feet for those older people who did not have access to a computer/ did not wish to go 
digital. 
  
The Panel queried whether the website could be shared and the officer advised it could be 
after its launch on 24 September 2020. It was suggested by a member that leaflets regarding 
Steady on your feet could be displayed in Council buildings and community hubs post -covid 
to promote the toolkit and should be shared with local Councillors and partners. 
  
The officer also advised that they were currently producing stickers for businesses to display 
to show they were falls prevention trained as they had received number of queries from 
companying concerned about customers who had fallen in their presence. There was some 
safeguarding issues to overcome, however it was hoped these would be rolled out in the near 
future. 
  
The Chair thanked all the officers in attendance for their presentations and information. 
Following this, the panel had a discussion regarding the next steps of the review. It was 
agreed that the information received at the meeting would be incorporated within the draft final 
report and external organisations e.g. Age UK Teesside to provide a written update on 
services since the outbreak of Covid 19. The draft final report would be submitted to the next 
meeting of the Panel, along with draft recommendations. 
  
AGREED-  
That the information provided be noted. 
That the updated information provided be incorporated within the draft final report 
That the draft final report, along with draft recommendations be submitted to the 
October meeting. 
 
 
 

 
 4 UPDATE FROM THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD AND WORK PROGRAMME 

 
The Chair provided a verbal update to the Board on issues discussed at the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board on 3 September 2020. 
  

 

Page 6



Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel 16 September 2020 

5  

The Chair outlined that during the meeitng, a Board member had stressed the growing 
concern of resdients of the town suffering from social isolation due to the impact of Covid-19. 
  
The panel had previosuly carried out a review in relation to this, however it was agreed that at 
the future meeting, representatives would be invited to provide an update on social isolation 
the meaudres being out in place to help ease this within our communities.  
  
The panel also discussed the work programme and agreed to relook at the report circulated at 
the July meeting to see where the panel could make a positive impact. 
  
AGREED- That the update and discussion be noted 

 
 5 DATE OF NEXT MEETING- WEDNESDAY 14 OCTOBER 2020 

 
The Panel were advised that the next meeting of the panel would take place on Wednesday 
14 October 2020. 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

   AGENDA ITEM: 5 
 

            ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND SERVICES SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

CONTENTS 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT ................................................................................................ 2 
AIMS OF THE INVESTIGATION ............................................................................................ 2 
MAYOR’S PRIORITIES ......................................................................................................... 2 
STRATEGIC PLAN 2020-2023 .............................................................................................. 2 
TERMS OF REFERENCE ...................................................................................................... 2 
SETTING THE SCENE .......................................................................................................... 2 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION ........................................................................................... 3 
TERM OF REFERENCE A: ................................................................................................... 4 
TERM OF REFERENCE B: ................................................................................................... 8 
TERM OF REFERENCE C: ................................................................................................. 13 
UPDATE – SEPTEMBER 2020 – COVID-19 ....................................................................... 14 
CONCLUSIONS ................................................................................................................... 17 
RECOMMENDATIONS ........................................................................................................ 19 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS .................................................................................................... 19 
ACRONYMS ........................................................................................................................ 20 
BACKGROUND PAPERS ................................................................................................... 20 
PANEL MEMBERSHIP ........................................................................................................ 22 
APPENDICES ...................................................................................................................... 23 

  

  

DRAFT FINAL REPORT OF THE 
ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND SERVICES  

SCRUTINY PANEL –  
PHYSICAL ACTIVITY FOR OLDER PEOPLE  

(AGED 65-PLUS) 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 

2 

 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1. To present the draft final report of the Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel 
following its investigation into ‘Physical Activity for Older People (aged 65-plus)’. 

 
AIMS OF THE INVESTIGATION 
 

2. As part of its investigation, the Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel sought to raise 
awareness of the issues surrounding physical activity for older people over the age of 65, 
and to encourage further participation in physical activity.  The Panel feels that the outcome 
of this investigation will have the potential to make an enormous difference to the lives of 
older people in Middlesbrough.  

 
MAYOR’S PRIORITIES 

 
3. The scrutiny of this topic fits within the following Mayor’s priorities (Middlesbrough Council, 

2020): 
 

• People – Ensuring our town is an absolute leader on environmental issues; 
• Place – Building more town centre homes – and protecting our green spaces; and 
• Business – Creating positive perceptions of our town on a national basis. 

 
STRATEGIC PLAN 2020-2023 
 

4. The scrutiny of this topic contributes to the delivery of the Strategic Plan 2020-2023 
(Middlesbrough Council, 2020), as follows:           

 
• People – Healthy life expectancy; Adults living independently; and Average life 

satisfaction; 
• Place – Town population; and Satisfaction with Middlesbrough as a place to live; and 
• Business – Council spending with local businesses. 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

5. The terms of reference for the Scrutiny Panel’s investigation were as follows: 
 

a) To understand the importance of physical activity for those over the age of 65; 
b) To examine current service provision and ascertain how accessible physical activity 

is for Middlesbrough residents over the age of 65; and 
c) To explore effective strategies, interventions and projects to further develop service 

provision. 
 
SETTING THE SCENE 
 

6. The Panel held meetings on 16 September 2019, 16 October 2019, 13 November 2019,  
18 December 2019 and 22 January 2020.  However, following the outbreak of the COVID-
19 pandemic, further meetings were held on 29 July 2020 and 16 September 2020 to 
consider next steps for the review, and to receive updates.  

 
7. Information/evidence was received from the following organisations/representatives: 

 
• K Bainbridge – Better Care Fund Project Manager, Middlesbrough Council; 
• R Bedford – Health and Physical Activity Development Manager, Middlesbrough 

Council; 
• J Berger – Insight and Analytics Officer, ‘You’ve Got This’ (South Tees Local Delivery 

Pilot); 

Page 10



 

3 

 

• M Fitzgerald – Programme Director, ‘You’ve Got This’ (South Tees Local Delivery 
Pilot); 

• L Grabham – Head of Strategic Commissioning and Procurement, Middlesbrough 
Council; 

• J Hartley – Programme Officer, ‘You’ve Got This’ (South Tees Local Delivery Pilot); 
• S Hydon – Sport and Client Relationship Manager, Middlesbrough Council; 
• S Lloyd – Advanced Public Health Practitioner, Middlesbrough Council; 
• E McInnes – Health Improvement Practitioner (Ageing Well/Dementia), 

Middlesbrough Council; 
• C Orr – Infrastructure Programme Manager, Middlesbrough Council; 
• E Scollay – Director of Adult Social Care and Health Integration, Middlesbrough 

Council; and 
• A Sykes – Chief Executive, Age UK Teesside. 

 
8. The information conveyed to the Panel over the course of the investigation has been 

considered in respect of the agreed terms of reference. 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 
Physical Activity vs. Exercise 
 

9. Physical Activity and Exercise are described by the World Health Organisation (2019) in the 
following way: 
 

“Physical activity is defined as any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that 
requires energy expenditure…The term "physical activity" should not be mistaken with 
"exercise".  Exercise, is a subcategory of physical activity that is planned, structured, 
repetitive, and purposeful in the sense that the improvement or maintenance of one or 
more components of physical fitness is the objective.  Physical activity includes 
exercise as well as other activities which involve bodily movement and are done as part 
of playing, working, active transportation, house chores and recreational activities.”  

 
Demographic – ‘Older Adult’ (Aged 65-plus) 
 

10. There is no clear definition/application of the term ‘older person’, and attempting to create 
one may exclude key demographics involved in this investigation.  In line with NHS (2019b) 
definitions, the Panel agreed to focus on older adults aged 65-plus. 
 

11. The Panel is mindful that older people are not a homogenous group and has considered this 
topic in respect of those living either independently or within a care home environment, as 
well as those with health conditions, such as dementia. 
 

12. Demographically, research by the Office of National Statistics (ONS, 2019b) indicates those 
aged 65 years and over is an age group growing faster than any other age group.  In 1998, 
around one in six people were over 65 (15.9%), increasing to one in every five in 2018 
(18.3%).  This is projected to reach around one in every four (24.2%) by 2038.  Locally, 
16.2% of Middlesbrough’s population was over the age of 65 in April 2019 (ONS, 2019c).  
By 2068, it is projected an additional 8.2 million people over the age of 65 will live in the UK.   
 

13. The number of older people living alone has also increased.  Between 2008 and 2018, this 
increased by 6% (7.5 million to 8 million), particularly in respect of older men.  In 2018, nearly 
half of those living alone (48%) were aged 65 years and over, and more than one in four 
(27%) were aged 75 years and over (ONS, 2019b). 

  

Page 11



 

4 

 

CONTEXT 
 

14. The UK Chief Medical Officer published Physical Activity Guidelines in 2011, which were 
revised in 2019.  The current guidelines for older adults (aged 65 years and over) include 
the following:  

 
• “Older adults should participate in daily physical activity to gain health benefits, 

including maintenance of good physical and mental health, wellbeing, and social 
functioning.  Some physical activity is better than none: even light activity brings 
some health benefits compared to being sedentary, while more daily physical 
activity provides greater health and social benefits”; and 

 
• “Each week older adults should aim to accumulate at least 150 minutes of moderate 

intensity aerobic activity, building up gradually from current levels.   Those who are 
already regularly active can achieve these benefits through 75 minutes of vigorous 
intensity activity, or a combination of moderate and vigorous activity, to achieve 
greater benefits.   Weight-bearing activities which create an impact through the 
body help to maintain bone health.” 

 
                                                                                               (Source: Department of Health, 2019a) 

15. Although these guidelines have been drafted for a specific purpose, the Panel has borne 
in mind that these may not apply to everybody. 

 
16. The health and wellbeing benefits associated with physical activity in older adults, both 

physically and mentally, is well documented (see Appendices 1 and 2 for examples of this). 
 

17. According to the British Heart Foundation (2017), approximately 20 million UK adults are 
physically inactive, with 900,000 (42%) being inactive in the North East.  This is supported 
by NHS England (2018), i.e. adults over the age of 65 tend to spend, on average, 10 hours 
or more sitting or lying down each day.  Such inactivity leads to higher rates of falls, obesity, 
heart disease and early death, in comparison to the general population. 

 
18. Conversely, studies show that physically active older people have a reduced risk of 

illnesses/ailments (such as Type II Diabetes, Cardiovascular Disease, Depression and joint 
pain), whilst seeing health benefits (including improved sleep, reduced stress and better 
weight management).  These improvements also impact on psychological wellbeing and 
can help reduce feelings of loneliness and/or social isolation.  As the Panel found in its 
previous report (‘Reducing Loneliness and/ or Social Isolation in Later Life’), this is 
important, particularly as the number of single person households is projected to rise 
steadily. 

 
19. Importantly, there are wider benefits to public services and the economy.  Previous studies 

have documented the ramifications of physical inactivity which, according to Public Health 
England (2019), “…is responsible for one in six UK deaths (equal to smoking) and is 
estimated to cost the UK £7.4 billion annually (including £0.9 billion to the NHS alone).”  
Therefore, an increase in physical activity could result in significant financial savings.  

 
20. Despite these benefits, however, evidence does suggest that as people grow older, 

insufficient focus is being placed on undertaking physical activity. 
 

TERM OF REFERENCE A: 
TO UNDERSTAND THE IMPORTANCE OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY FOR THOSE   
                                       OVER THE AGE OF 65 

 
21. The Panel heard that current guidelines recommend a target of 150 minutes (2 ½ hours) 

of physical activity be undertaken each week.  However, as indicated under Term of 
Reference B, the Panel appreciates this may be challenging or off-putting for some people, 

Page 12



 

5 

 

perhaps due to existing health conditions or mobility problems, which could affect 
confidence to participate.  In recognising the importance of physical activity for those aged 
65 and over, the Panel feels that even small amounts of activity will tackle sedentary 
behaviour, but it is appreciated that lifestyles do vary, and therefore opportunities to 
undertake physical activity must be workable around other everyday commitments. 
 

22. There are several key strategies in place across Middlesbrough to increase awareness of 
the importance of physical activity for older people, and to ensure appropriate provision is 
in place to support their pursuit for a healthier lifestyle.   

 
 Prevention Agenda 
 

23. The prevention agenda is designed to prevent degradation of health and Middlesbrough 
Council’s ‘Middlesbrough Prevention Strategy: Adults and Older People 2016-2020’ 
highlights this.  For example: showing the impact that inactivity has on physical and mental 
health.  

 
24. As the following diagram illustrates, prevention is broken down into three strata: Primary, 

Secondary and Tertiary:   
 

 
 

(Source: NHS, 2020) 
 

25. Maintaining physical activity for individuals falling within the Tertiary stratum of prevention, 
i.e. those already in the social care system and receiving care, is a key priority.  Health 
professionals, such as Occupational Therapists and reablement staff, are available to 
provide vital support to help people remain active. 

 
26. Elsewhere, officers within Public Health currently undertake work that aligns with the 

Secondary and Tertiary strata of prevention.  For example: pre-operative physical activity 
work is being undertaken in the hope that more operations are successful, and that 
improvements in recovery/rehabilitation times can be achieved.   

 

Page 13

https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&url=https://www.healthyshetland.com/about-us/prevention&psig=AOvVaw1b19owKopIlaemLDSlBxy4&ust=1581584735477000&source=images&cd=vfe&ved=0CAIQjRxqFwoTCKj7grbUy-cCFQAAAAAdAAAAABAE


 

6 

 

27. Public Health teams contribute to the referrals process on a small scale by signposting 
service users to other support organisations, such as Stroke Group.  The intention is to 
develop this further as part of the Sport England Local Delivery Pilot (LDP) initiative. 
 
Sport England LDP 

 
28. In 2015, the Government produced a new strategy based on physical activity: 'Sporting 

Futures: A New Strategy Towards an Active Nation'.  This strategy focused, for the first 
time, on the benefits of physical activity and how this linked to improved physical health, 
mental wellbeing, social cohesion and economic status. 

 
29. Middlesbrough and Redcar (as a South Tees offer) successfully bid for a share of £130m, 

which will be apportioned on a rolling basis according to need.  12 areas were selected out 
of over 100 that had applied.   

 
30. Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council is the accountable body for the LDP, but does not 

employ any LDP staff.  Employees of Voluntary Community Sector organisations are 
contracted to deliver the pilot project, which allows for increased buy-in and capacity 
building. 

 
31. The LDP is entitled ‘You’ve Got This’ and focuses upon increasing physical activity through 

‘whole system change’ (i.e. acknowledging the importance of wider factors, such as open 
space, transport, infrastructure and health and safety).  Fundamentally, the objective is to 
change psychological capacity and shift attitudes, thereby enabling people to prioritise 
physical activity.  The aim of the programme is to have the pilot areas consider alternative 
ways where the change of scale can be at population level.  Owing to the size of the South 
Tees population (circa. 270,000), ideas are being tested on a small scale and will be rolled-
out accordingly. 

 
32. The pilot is not about duplication, but about building capacity for existing opportunities and 

improving connections between groups and organisations, which should encourage 
collaborative working.  Various community initiatives, such as litter picks, are currently 
taking place, which allow communities to socialise and undertake physical activity together.   

 
33. The Panel understands that as part of this approach, the LDP focuses specifically on 

people undertaking less than 30 minutes of physical activity per week.  Nationally, this is 
25% of the population, however, in some of South Tees' most deprived wards, the figure 
is currently 43%. 

 
34. Demographically, four specific 'communities of interest' were selected as part of the pilot, 

as follows: 
 

• People with or at risk of developing Type II Diabetes;  
• People accessing commercial weight loss services;  
• Health professionals/GPs working with people to change behaviour and build 

capacity to utilise physical activity as a clinical pathway; and  
• People in pre-habilitation, which is concerned with improving patients' fitness 

prior to undergoing surgery (e.g. preparing older people for orthopaedic 
surgery). 

 
35. Geographically, four socially deprived localities with the worst health outcomes were 

identified: 
 

• Brambles and Thorntree;  
• Grangetown; 
• North Ormesby; and  
• South Bank.   

 
Page 14



 

7 

 

36. Within each locality, key elements of work are being carried out.  In North Ormesby, for 
example, older adults are the current focus.  The ethos focuses upon learning and the 
positive impact of passing on examples of best practice.  Any learning gathered within 
North Ormesby will be replicated across different areas of Middlesbrough and Redcar and 
Cleveland, which the Panel feels could have a very positive impact upon Middlesbrough’s 
older demographic.   

 
37. The Panel was appraised of the following key points arising from focus group and baseline 

activities to date: 
 

• The national average for physical activity is currently 25.1% - in the pilot's 
four focus wards the average is 43%; 

• The most physically inactive people are those over the age of 55; 
• The overall activity levels for people aged 55-74 is 52%; 
• Women and individuals with long-term disabilities are more physically 

inactive than people who are healthy; 
• More positively, there is a higher sense of social cohesion amongst people 

over the age of 54, who answered more positively to the question 'to what 
extent do you agree/disagree that you can trust people in your local area'; 

• Of the focus groups undertaken with older people in North Ormesby, their 
main motivators for being physically active are socialising and improving co-
ordination and general health.  There is a heightened fear of falling, and  
restricted mobility and sight problems prevent them from doing things that 
they would like to do; 

• Safety is an enormous factor that was identified across the wards and across 
the age groups; 

• People advised of their reluctance to undertake computer or screen-based 
activities, stating that group and/or face-to-face contact is preferred; 

• Respondents aged 75-plus are the least active group, with 50% of those 
falling into the 'inactive' category (less than 30 minutes of moderate intensity 
exercise per week), which is double the national average; and 

• Respondents aged 75-plus report high levels of life satisfaction and mental 
wellbeing. 

 
38. Through engagement with community stakeholders, the following themes have emerged 

as to what impacts an individual’s physical activity levels: 
 

• Perceived health conditions and needed transport;  
• Dependency on local assets/buildings and working with organisations familiar 

to them;  
• Physical activity not being a priority;  
• Awareness of physical activity being 'something for them';  
• Co-design with communities;  
• Isolation and safety; and  
• Importance of group activities. 
 

39. Older people in North Ormesby value physical activity and are aware that they need to be 
active to maintain both physical and mental health.  However, it appears that barriers are 
preventing people from partaking in physical activity, including:  
 

• A lack of awareness around the opportunities available;  
• Feelings that exercise is not for them; and  
• Thoughts that physical activity could have negative repercussions upon pre-

existing medical conditions. 
 

Page 15



 

8 

 

40. Consequently, the Panel recognises the importance of developing new ideas to increase 
involvement in physical activity, and tapping into all contact points within the community to 
ensure that socially isolated individuals can be reached. 

 
41. Representatives from ‘You’ve Got This’ have engaged housing organisations (including 

Thirteen Group and Beyond Housing) in discussion around development planning, and 
how factors such as green space can contribute to increased physical activity. 

 
42. The Panel supports the Sport England LDP’s work and recognises that it is a long-term 

project.  The Panel acknowledges that only a snapshot of the work and subsequent 
learning is currently available, and would therefore welcome the opportunity of receiving 
further updates in the future. 

 
TERM OF REFERENCE B: 

TO EXAMINE CURRENT SERVICE PROVISION AND ASCERTAIN HOW 
ACCESSIBLE PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IS FOR MIDDLESBROUGH RESIDENTS 

OVER THE AGE OF 65 
 

43. In terms of physical activity provision, the Panel appreciates that there must be a demand 
for a service, as well as the resources available to deliver it.   

 
44. Although there have been recent changes to the state pension age, in essence, retirement 

can provide excellent opportunity for individuals to increase activity, which could contribute 
to the creation of demand for different activities. 

 
45. Representatives of Adult Social Care, Age UK Teesside and Sport and Leisure 

Management (SLM – also known locally as ‘Everyone Active’) conveyed the significance 
of physical activity in terms of maintaining health and wellbeing.  Consequently, physical 
activity can be viewed as a preventative measure.   

 
46. If there is demand for specific services, these will be considered in view of the resources 

available (which will be dependent upon capacity and funding/commercial viability). 
 
47. The Panel heard that Everyone Active has entered a 15-year contract with Middlesbrough 

Council to manage its leisure centres/services, which commenced in April 2016.   
 
48. The overall attendance figures for people over 60 at Middlesbrough's leisure venues, up to 

the end of September 2019, were as follows: 
 
 

 

 
49. The Panel feels that there are lots of opportunities for people over 65 to get involved in 

physical activity within leisure centres, for example: Athletics; Badminton; Cycling; 
Dementia friendly activities; and Swimming. 

 
50. Successful promotion of activities and services is a fundamental issue.  A variety of 

communication methods, both on and offline-based, are important, as not everyone over 
65 can readily access IT.  Methods could include face-to-face conversations at opportune 
moments, such as during healthcare appointments, together with e-bulletins and service 
directories. 

 
51. Access to Everyone Active’s sport and leisure facilities is not free, nor are there any 

concession rates available to those over 65.  In light of this, the Panel raise the following 
points: 

 

 2018/19 2019/20 Variance 

Over 60’s attendance 7,099 7,212 +113 

Page 16



 

9 

 

• As older people may not visit the gym on a daily basis, the current membership 
fee of £24.95 per month for adults could prove more expensive than for younger 
adults, who may visit more frequently (even with an annual payment which 
provides two months free membership); 

• The costs associated with fitness could be prohibitive to a healthier lifestyle for 
over 65s, therefore a flat-rate entry fee per visit could be more feasible; and 

• As a commercial company, it may prove useful for Everyone Active to ascertain 
demand for gym usage for over 65s, and consider ways to meet that demand.  
Consultation or focus group activity could prove particularly useful in this regard. 
 

52. The key is to ensure that over 65s are actively encouraged to approach service providers 
with suggestions for activities/services, and discuss them in greater detail.  This would help 
ensure older people are able to make the most of their memberships, and demonstrate 
demand exists.  It is very positive that Everyone Active is keen to discuss potential activity 
development with clients/individuals/groups.   

 
53. 'The Over Fifties Youth (T.O.F.Y) Club', which was initially funded by Sport England but is 

now financially independent, is an excellent example of how community initiatives can 
develop and succeed, i.e. with appropriate support, organisations can become self-
sustainable.  'Grass roots' support from a variety of stakeholders is paramount to moving 
ideas and areas of interest forward. 

 
54. Café/refreshments facilities at leisure centres often provide excellent space for older 

people to socialise after physical activity.  This may not only increase participation, but also 
reduce feelings of loneliness and/or social isolation.  However, these services also need 
to be commercially viable.  It is appreciated that financial resource is a significant issue for 
all service providers, irrespective of the sector in which they operate.  

 
55. Whilst national funding opportunities are occasionally available for public bodies and local 

not-for-profit organisations/branches, this is highly competitive and therefore not 
guaranteed. 

 
56. Funding opportunities, particularly for physical activity initiatives, are often short-term, 

which could act as a barrier to participation.  Shortage of funding could also result in a 
perceived reduction in demand for activities.  

 
57. Physical activity must be provided not only in a positive, engaging and motivational way, 

but must also be fully inclusive and accessible to all.  This is especially the case for older 
people diagnosed with dementia and their families/carers. 

 
58. At present, one in fourteen people are diagnosed with dementia and, in Middlesbrough, 

approximately 600 people are predicted to be un-diagnosed.   
 
59. The Dementia Friendly Community initiative, through which Middlesbrough achieved 

Dementia Friendly Town status in March 2016, encourages businesses to sign up to the 
programme, and involves implementing suitable community activities for people with 
dementia.  Previously, activities such as chair-based exercise have been held exclusively 
for individuals with dementia and their carers, however, these have now been opened up 
for anyone to attend. 

 
60. All of Middlesbrough's leisure centres have signed up to be dementia friendly, and 

discussions are taking place to determine what activities could continue to support this 
pledge.  At present, over 160 businesses in Middlesbrough have signed up to be dementia 
friendly, with 3000 dementia friends in Middlesbrough also attending a one hour 
awareness-raising session. 

 

Page 17



 

10 

 

61. An interactive map (‘Community Mapping’) has been developed for professionals, which 
enables them to signpost service users to appropriate support provision, including activities 
within local communities.  The Panel supports the view that Link Workers could potentially 
use this map to help facilitate the signposting/referrals process in future, as part of Social 
Prescribing work. 

 
62. 'Exercise on prescription' is offered to individuals as a form of Social Prescribing, but it is 

important that GPs refer to the appropriate pathways and for the appropriate reasons.  As 
part of the Sport England LDP, on-going analysis will be carried-out in respect of referral 
rates by GP practice.  

 
63. Other initiatives include a volunteer befriending programme for carers and ex-carers of 

dementia sufferers, which helps break down barriers for those accessing 
community/physical activities.  Dementia cafes also offer further opportunity to learn about 
dementia.  

 
64. Tea dance activities are held every six-weeks at Acklam Green Centre, with more than 50 

people currently attending each session.  The benefits this brings is cited in Burkhardt and 
Rhodes’ (2012) work:  

 
“Regular dance activity can help maintain cognitive function, reduce cardiovascular 
risk and reduce the risk of falls.  Dance programmes involving regular sessions can 
provide a way to be active, have fun and above all engage socially with others; 
critical to maintaining mental wellbeing in older people.  Dance is also being used 
successfully to support people with Alzheimer’s or Dementia and their carers.”    

 
65. All of these initiatives help to improve social connectedness and reduce loneliness and/or 

social isolation. 
 

N.B. Following receipt of this information during the evidence gathering process, 
the Panel suggested that a briefing/awareness-raising session be scheduled for all 
Elected Members, which was subsequently held on Friday, 6 March 2020. 

 
66. The Panel welcomed the news that a dementia hub facility is currently being established 

in Middlesbrough, which will be managed by Tees, Esk and Wear Valley (TEWV) Trust.  
Providing initial information to dementia sufferers and their carers, the hub will also 
signpost/refer to specialist services, including physical activity sessions where necessary.   

 
67. Care home provision in Middlesbrough currently stands at 30, Council-commissioned 

homes.  The total bed capacity is 1566, with 1132 currently being utilised using a variety 
of funding methods.   

 
68. 26 homes employ a dedicated Activities Co-ordinator, although this is not a mandatory 

position and the Council cannot impose it.  Some care homes expect their staff to provide 
activities as part of their core role.  However, the majority prefer to employ dedicated 
Activities Co-ordinators to ensure that activities are not delayed or postponed.  Activities 
are provided as part of care home fees, with external agencies also providing activities.  

 
69. The activities delivered in care homes include: Arts and crafts; Board games; Hand 

massage; and Indoor golf.  External activities are also offered, including: Bowling; 
Pantomimes; Visits to the cinema (dementia friendly); and Yellow Rose Dementia Café.   

 
70. Activity can also be intergenerational, with some care homes having relationships with 

nearby schools.  However, visits from schoolchildren are often seasonal and tend to link in 
with special occasions, such as religious holidays. 

 

Page 18



 

11 

 

71. Guidelines about how many hours of activity should be used in different sized care homes 
are issued by the Council as follows: 

 
 

 
72. As part of the Council’s care home monitoring arrangements, there are nine standards, 

one of which concerns social and leisure standards.  Monitoring is undertaken twice per 
year with staff checking that activities have taken place, where residents have expressed 
a desire to participate.  Staff also check that an activities programme is available and 
clearly on display to ensure that residents and their families are aware of what is available.  
Surveys are undertaken with residents once per year to ensure opportunities to participate 
in activities are offered, that activities are of their choice, and are made available.  There 
are procedures in place for addressing any issues with care home standards.   
 

73. The Council’s Public Health teams deliver 11.5 hours of activities to older adults, including: 
Prevention work (such as balance and falls prevention); Tai Chi; Chair-based physical 
activity; and Low level circuit sessions. 

 
74. With regard to the voluntary sector, Age UK Teesside operates the Phoenix Project, which 

is funded by Middlesbrough Council.  Originally set-up as a pilot study into the value of 
social rehabilitation, it has since developed into a programme providing opportunities for 
people to spend time with others in a welcoming social environment.  Activities are carried 
out in Community Hubs to ensure all abilities can participate, including dementia sufferers 
and their carers. 

 
75. The programme offers a variety of activities Monday to Friday, all of which are delivered 

within community settings.  Essentially, it is personal preference whether individuals 
participate, but all activities involve some element of physical exercise, in addition to the 
social aspect.  For example: a weekly carpet bowls session currently engages participants 
aged 50-95 years old.  Friendships have also formed outside of the group, which is 
excellent for social inclusion.   

 
76. The Panel understands that there are various barriers to participating in physical exercise 

for older people, including attitudinal, cultural, familial and practical.  For example: low 
confidence, self-esteem and/or less developed social skills could limit physical activity 
participation.  Where possible these should be recognised, addressed and overcome. 

 
77. From a practical perspective, the availability of transport after 18:00 is an issue that has 

been raised with the Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel previously, and one 
that appears to continue to present itself.  This is compounded by the, sometimes, 
prohibitive cost of private hire taxis for older people.  

 
78. The Panel is aware of different community projects providing volunteer drivers (such as 

those operated by Age UK, Carers Together and Tees Valley Rural Action) and feels that 
similar services could potentially assist in supporting older people to access physical 
activities. 

 

Occupancy 
(Number of Beds) 

Activity Provision 
(Hours Per Week) 

0 - 20 20 
21 - 30 30 
31 - 40 37 
41 - 50 42 
51 - 60 45 
61 - 70 48 
71 - 90 54 

91+ 60 

Page 19



 

12 

 

79. A transport resource is currently being devised, which will potentially include transport links 
and Bridge Card use.  A transport guide is currently being consulted on and will hopefully 
feed into a wider Tees Valley programme.  It is hoped this will help facilitate transport 
matters/concerns that older people may have. 

 
80. Physical activity also needs to be ‘workable’ into everyday life and existing commitments.  

By breaking targets down over a number of days, for example: 30 minutes of brisk walking 
five days per week to achieve 150 minutes of moderate intensity activity per week, will help 
to make this more achievable. 

 
81. The Panel recognises the vital role of carers and the importance of supporting their health 

and wellbeing.  Carers may feel they do not have the time to undertake physical activity, 
which could be looked at in relation to carer's assessments and gym membership 
potentially being built into support plans.  This would also address any potential financial 
matters/concerns that a full-time carer might have. 

 
82. The Panel recognises that an individual’s interest and abilities will differ and some will want 

to undertake more exercise than others.  Nevertheless, because even small amounts of 
movement are far better than sedentary behaviour, the Panel feels it is important to 
promote and encourage physical activity and the services supporting it as much as 
possible.   

 
83. The importance of a ‘whole system approach’ is crucial to achieving this and to this end, 

the Council’s Infrastructure Programme Manager provided the Panel with the following 
information: 

 
• The Council has a statutory duty to “secure the expeditious, convenient and safe 

movement of vehicular and other traffic (including pedestrians) and the provision of 
suitable and adequate parking facilities on and off the highway” as per the Road 
Traffic Act 1984; 

• Middlesbrough Council undertakes this duty through delivering a highway network 
fit for purpose and accessible to all, regardless of any protected characteristics.    
This includes installing infrastructure compliant with all legislation for accessibility 
(kerb heights, trip/fall hazards, etcetera), and all adopted infrastructure lit to British 
Standards. Officers are consulted on any new 
developments/installations/adaptions to ensure that Middlesbrough’s network is 
fully connected, and that people are able to undertake required journeys; 

• A regime of inspections is undertaken to identify potential trip/slip hazards, and 
plans put in place to remediate any issues within a timely manner; 

• The Council administers the National Concessionary Travel Scheme, allowing 
pension age persons and those with mobility issues the opportunity to receive a 
pass to allow free bus travel.  This helps to provide those with mobility impediments 
access to travel; removing this as a barrier to accessing services, etcetera.  The 
Council also provides blue badges for mobility impaired persons to allow free 
parking within Council car parks, and reduces limitations as to where a vehicle can 
be parked; 

• Officers also work closely with Middlesbrough Environment City, who offer active 
travel training/guided walks and rides to the community, inclusive of people over 
the age of 65; and 

• The Council provides its highway service in line with accessible for all. 
 

84. Based on this information, Middlesbrough is in a strong position to support one of the 
simplest forms of physical activity: walking. 

 
 
 

Page 20



 

13 

 

85. Free and largely available to most people, the health benefits associated with walking are 
well documented (e.g. Ramblers, 2020).  These include:  

 
• Improved cardiovascular performance;  
• Lower blood pressure;  
• Reduced risk of coronary heart disease and stroke; 
• Increase in ‘good’ cholesterol; 
• Improved mood, sleep, a reduction in anxiety and improved self-image/confidence; 

and 
• Assistance with weight management. 

 
86. A variety of walking groups currently operate in various settings across Middlesbrough, 

including parks, lakes and open spaces, Middlesbrough Sports Village, and the town 
centre.  A series of local history walks has also recently commenced.  Wider infrastructure, 
such as effective street lighting, and how this assists/encourages older people to 
participate in activities is recognised.  It is possible that effort could be made to consolidate 
these diasporic walking groups to increase numbers, improve socialisation and offer a 
greater choice of venue/location. 

 
TERM OF REFERENCE C: 

TO EXPLORE EFFECTIVE STRATEGIES, INTERVENTIONS AND PROJECTS 
TO FURTHER DEVELOP SERVICE PROVISION 

 
87. A significant amount of work is taking place in respect of this topic, offering an insightful 

snapshot.  In this respect, the Panel has received excellent evidence, and would welcome 
further updates in the future. 

 
88. As part of evidence relating to multi-agency working, the topics of crime, perception of 

crime and Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) were raised.  In this regard, Everyone Active and 
Sport England LDP teams are currently working with Cleveland Police to address issues 
of concern.  For example, looking at a ‘whole system approach’ to the provision of secure 
lighting, CCTV and Street Warden presence at leisure/public venues.   

 
89. In terms of building upon the success of the walking groups already in existence, linking 

these up further would increase participation and provide additional opportunity for social 
interaction.  In developing this further, a resources guide, outlining organised walking 
routes/schedules, for example, could be created for use by older people, their relatives and 
friends.  This could be made available in public buildings and on the Council’s website. 

 
90. Incentives could assist with behavioural change and participation in physical activity, but 

only to a certain degree.  Rewards and incentives may motivate individuals to undertake 
physical exercise if offered appropriately.  Continual encouragement by way of social 
support (e.g. improved friendships through attendance at walking and luncheon groups) 
should be undertaken, as opposed to sole reliance upon one-off incentives, such as 
‘participate for a free gift’. 

 
91. It is appreciated that care homes are private entities, but the Panel supports the view that 

it would be beneficial for a forum to be established to bring together the 26 care home 
Activities Co-ordinators, Adult Social Care and Public Health professionals to share ideas 
about future work opportunities.   

 
92. In terms of the Local Authority’s commissioning of care providers, the Panel feels there is 

opportunity for development in this area.  For example, when the Local Authority's 
contracts with care providers are due for renewal, consideration could be given as to how 
physical activity provision and monitoring could be built into future contracts. 

 

Page 21



 

14 

 

93. Where possible, Elected Members should be involved in the development and promotion 
of physical activity provision, such as Members’ briefings and community events. 

 
94. Data and other insight information is available from the ‘You’ve Got This’ team upon 

request, and a Community Investment Programme will be established.  This will provide 
an opportunity for groups with ideas to increase physical activity to bid for small grant 
funding.  All groups/organisations are highly encouraged to apply to the team. 

 
95. The Panel feels that it would be beneficial, from Everyone Active’s perspective, to ascertain 

the level of demand for gym use for people over the age of 65, and then consider ways to 
meet this demand (through consultation or focus group activity, for example).   

 
96. Regarding intergenerational activities and the positive impact that these could potentially 

have on older people, the Panel feels that there is scope to undertake further scrutiny 
around this topic.  

 
97. With regards to supporting older carers, consideration could be given towards potentially 

incorporating gym membership into care plans, or providing concession membership rates 
at sport and leisure venues.  

 
98. Public Health teams are currently working in partnership with Ageing Better Middlesbrough 

(ABM) and other key organisations in respect of an Age-friendly Middlesbrough initiative.  
ABM is leading on the initiative, which has been allocated funding from the Big Lottery 
Fund to achieve the vision of making Middlesbrough an Age-friendly Town.  The application 
is due to be submitted to the World Health Organisation (WHO) in the near future. 

 
99. ABM's steering group has identified some priority areas, including sufficient public toilet 

provision for older people visiting the town centre.  A map of general toilet facilities could 
be created and displayed prominently (as demonstrated in other towns and cities such as 
Manchester). 

 
100. In addition to toilet provision, the Panel also recognises the importance of seating for older 

people in the town centre.  A national 'Take a Seat' campaign is currently being undertaken.  
This initiative encourages businesses to allow people to sit on branded furniture, have a 
glass of water and use the toilet.  This could be supported locally by promoting the 
campaign via the Marketing and Communications team (e.g. on the Council’s website and 
in the ‘Love Middlesbrough’ magazine). 

 
UPDATE – SEPTEMBER 2020 – COVID-19 

 
101. This report was due to be considered by the Scrutiny Panel Members on 18 March 2020.  

However, following the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, this was not possible. 
 

102. The Scrutiny Panel met on 29 July 2020 to consider next steps in respect of the 
investigation, and agreed that a further meeting would be held to receive an update from 
officers.  This information, which was conveyed to the Panel on 16 September 2020, is 
covered in the following paragraphs (nos. 103-122). 
 

103. At the 16 September 2020 meeting of the Panel, Members were advised that in the period 
since March 2020, the following work has taken/currently taking place to help keep older 
people active: 

 
Provision 
 

• A booklet had been developed by colleagues in Sheffield containing exercises for 
older people to undertake at home.  The booklet was well received by older people 
in Sheffield, which resulted in Public Health England publishing the booklet 

Page 22



 

15 

 

nationally.  Middlesbrough Council had been provided with 5,000 booklets to be 
distributed evenly between older people in Middlesbrough and Redcar and 
Cleveland, who did not have or wish to have a computer and/or phone.  The booklet 
had also been made available online (see Appendix 3). 
 

• There had been a number of requests for digital content from the Public Health 
team, however, following a strategic decision being made that filming would be 
difficult, it was agreed that quality assured material would be used and circulated.  
Consequently, the team developed an online resource to support this. 

 
• The Public Health South Tees, Health Development team created a 30-day 

physical activity challenge, which had been distributed and made available digitally. 
 

• The Public Health team continued to undertake support calls to the most vulnerable 
older people with regard to physical activity.  

 
• During the summer months when restrictions were eased, the team worked with 

partners to create their own exercise videos.  One member of the team, Mandy 
Groves (Health Development Officer), had created a 15-Minute Tai Chi session.  
The video was uploaded on the 'You've Got This' Facebook page and received an 
astonishing 195,999 views.   The exercise was designed to help prevent falls as 
well as increasing core strength.  The team also uploaded a 'step exercise' using 
stairs at home video, which was also very well received with 73,000 views.  In terms 
of moving forward, the team was in discussion with corporate colleagues to 
purchase/utilise high quality filming equipment. 

 
• The ‘You're Got This’ team have continued their work with older people.  In 

collaboration with Middlesbrough Voluntary Development Agency (MVDA) and 
Redcar and Cleveland Voluntary Development Agency (RCVDA), applications are 
being invited from local individuals, charities, community groups and organisations 
across Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland for its small grants programme, 
which supports the vision to help the least active become more active (whilst 
recognising the limitations of COVID-19 and social distancing).  As at October 
2020, the fund is currently open to bids and information can be found at the 
following: https://mvda.info/news/new-your-active-living-fund-help-south-tees-
people-more-active 

 
• The Public Health South Tees, Health Development Team are currently exploring 

digital content to appear on Channel 7 (Virgin Media channel 159), which is a local 
television channel entitled ‘Teesside TV’.  The Older Peoples’ Academy in 
Newcastle had recently funded content to appear on 'Made in Tyne and Wear', 
which was also shared on ‘Teesside TV’. 

 
• Separate to ‘You’ve Got This’, Sport England have developed a fund to address 

three key areas: Digital exclusion; Significant Changes due to the pandemic; and 
Mental wellbeing.  Emma McInnes (Health Improvement Practitioner) and Age UK 
Teesside had recently put forward a bid to address digital exclusion by producing 
content to appear on ‘Teesside TV’.  The bid was submitted to Sport England and 
had passed the first stage.  The team is currently awaiting the outcome as to 
whether the bid has been approved.  

Page 23

https://mvda.info/news/new-your-active-living-fund-help-south-tees-people-more-active
https://mvda.info/news/new-your-active-living-fund-help-south-tees-people-more-active


 

16 

 

 

Leisure Centres 

104. In terms of reopening leisure facilities, the Panel was advised that leisure centres had 
closed on 20 March 2020, which was in line with Government guidance.  However, a 
phased reopening of the centres had now commenced, with the following being undertaken 
to date: 
 

• The Middlesbrough Municipal Golf Centre reopened in June 2020; 
• Leisure centres (gyms) reopened on 1 August 2020, including outside sports 

activities; and 
• Swimming pools reopened on 22 August 2020. 

 
105. There has been a reasonably strong return.  Everyone Active, operated by SLM, expected 

a 50% capacity raising to 70%, which was a projection made by Sport England.  50% as a 
baseline took into account social distancing guidelines, as well as the confidence of service 
users. 
 

106. SLM has strict measures in place to ensure centres are COVID-19 safe, which include 
hand sanitisation stations throughout the buildings, clear entrance and exit signs, and signs 
to highlight/remind of social distancing.  Strategic risk assessments are also in place. 

 
107. Sports clubs are beginning to be integrated back into leisure centres, however, their return 

has depended on guidance supplied by their governing bodies. 
 

108. All facilities are open and the Council feels that SLM are reopening facilities to exceptional 
standards.  Service users are asked to book a time slot and are allocated a 50-minute gym 
session, which allows 10-minutes for exit and sanitising.  Local sports clubs have returned 
to the Sports Village e.g. 'T.O.F.Y Club'. 

 
109. The Panel had previously raised points in relation to gym membership costs.  Members 

were advised that, at present, gym membership is £20 per month for the first three months, 
and £26.75 thereafter.  There are no concessions as SLM feels that their prices are 
competitive in comparison to other gyms.  The Panel was advised that there may be an 
opportunity for work to be undertaken with SLM to identify potential funding for 
concessionary rates/discounts. 

 
Prevention 
 

110. In terms of rehabilitation programmes, face-to-face sessions ceased during the pandemic 
and have not been reintroduced as clients tend to be the most vulnerable.  The team has 
extended their digital offer and also provide telephone support.   
 

111. The Panel is aware that physical activity has many benefits, but a significant one is fall 
prevention.  The Better Care Fund Manager provided the Panel with an overview of the 
Falls Prevention Strategy, which has been developed over the past three years.  

 
112. The Strategy has been developed to address an increase in older people falling and being 

referred to the Falls Prevention team from the South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust.  This strategy is a multi-tiered alliance across the Health Trust, Health, Local 
Authorities, voluntary organisations and partners.  An online tool has been developed to 
help prevent falls in the home. 

 
113. ‘Steady on Your Feet’ is the brand for the Falls Prevention Strategy, which is an online tool 

containing a host of resources, including a self-assessment tool which can be shared with 
health professionals and family members; exercise sheets and exercise videos (from the 

Page 24



 

17 

 

‘You've Got This’ team).  The underlying aim of the resource is to keep older people active 
to prevent falls.  The team has worked closely with the ‘You've Got This’ team and Ageing 
Better Middlesbrough.  The system allows for analysis of those accessing the site to be 
undertaken. 

 
114. A ‘train the trainer’ initiative is currently being undertaken with the Falls Prevention team to 

enable those demonstrating the self-assessment tool to provide assistance to older people.  
There is a strong underlying message that falls are everybody’s business.  There is a 
strong communication and engagement strategy in place as it is important, particularly 
during COVID-19, that older people remain active to help prevent falls, which in turn will 
help prevent hospital admissions. 

 
115. Leaflets and a paper-based version of ‘Steady on Your Feet’ are also available for those 

older people who do not have access to a computer or wish to go digital. 
 

116. The Panel recognises the enormous benefit of this tool for older people and their families, 
and feels that leaflets would benefit from being placed in Community Hubs, once residents 
are able to access these services again.  

 
Voluntary Sector Support 
 

117. With regards to the voluntary sector, the Panel is aware that Age UK Teesside operates 
the Phoenix Project, which is funded by Middlesbrough Council. 
 

118. Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the programme offered a variety of activities in 
community settings on a Monday to Friday basis.  Unfortunately, these face-to-face 
activities had to cease. 

 
119. Over the course of the pandemic, however, the Phoenix Project has supported older 

people who regularly attended activities.  During lockdown, for example, daily/weekly 
welfare calls were undertaken.  More recently, following the lifting of restrictions, socially 
distanced walking groups have been introduced at Stewart Park, which have been very 
well received and continue on a weekly basis.  

 
120. The Phoenix Project also offers Zumba Gold classes via Zoom, and have enabled older 

people to join in wherever possible through support from the Rekindle Project (if they did 
not previously use the internet).  These classes are regularly attended by 12 older people.  

 
121. The Phoenix Project had also started a new social group based at Morrison’s Berwick Hills, 

but this had recently needed to be suspended due to new COVID-19 restrictions. 
 

122. The Scrutiny Panel is reassured by the support and activities that have been provided to 
older people during the COVID-19 pandemic.  However, it is recognised that owing to the 
ever-evolving situation, activities are subject to late change/cancellation in response to 
infection rates and Government guidance.  

 
CONCLUSIONS 
 

123. The Scrutiny Panel reached the following conclusions in respect of its investigation: 
 

124. Adults generally exercise less as they get older, despite remaining mindful of its 
importance.  Consequently, to develop/maintain physical and mental health, promote 
independence and offer an improved quality of life, continual encouragement to undertake 
physical activity must be made wherever possible. 

 
125. Opportunities for physical activity must be promoted to older adults using a range of 

different methods, both on-and-offline-based.  This will help to ensure that all of the 
Page 25



 

18 

 

demographic can be successfully reached, including those who are more socially isolated 
and/or not accustomed to utilising IT resources.  Physical activity must be promoted in a 
positive, engaging and motivational way, whilst also ensuring full inclusivity and 
accessibility to all. 

 
126. Accessibility must consider the types of services and activities offered, as well as how 

these are offered and supported.  Wider variables could include, for example: 
 

• Infrastructure – e.g. how new housing developments are being designed to take 
into account open/green space; and provision and maintenance of street lighting 
and highways is designed to support older people (particularly those with sight and 
mobility issues);  

• Transport – i.e. how provision supports older people in attending physical activity 
and social sessions/events (which does present issues at present);  

• Individual matters and personal concerns – i.e. addressing mental and physical 
health matters, such as low self-esteem and lack of confidence, existing health 
conditions and mobility issues; and   

• Venues for activity provision – e.g. using a diverse range of facilities in a variety of 
localities, such as Community Hubs and other public buildings, to ensure that the 
varying needs of the demographic can be met, and that the most lonely and socially 
isolated can be reached. 
 

127. There are barriers that will prevent some older adults from participating in physical activity, 
and it is important to recognise and address these on a case-by-case basis.  As a basic 
principle, physical activities must be readily accessible, flexible and adaptable to facilitate 
integration into and around varying lifestyles and commitments.  Official 
guidance/guidelines will not be suitable for all, which must also be borne in mind when 
devising strategies and support initiatives for older adults. 
 

128. Physical activity provision for older adults requires input from various sources to ensure 
successful implementation of different strategies and interventions.  Public, private and 
voluntary sector organisations are able to offer activities, but they must be demand-led and 
providers must have the capacity/resources available to deliver them.  There are 
opportunities here for collaborative/partnership working, resource/knowledge sharing and 
cross-party signposting. 

 
129. Unfortunately, funding for physical activity provision is often limited and thus provided on 

a short-term basis.  Consequently, providers will need to be creative in their approach to 
develop and deliver new strategies and interventions for older adults, which will likely 
include provision of less expensive/free activities for individuals to participate in.  In terms 
of venue hire, negotiation will need to be undertaken to ensure a mutually-beneficial 
position for all parties involved. 

 
130. Café areas/facilities provide older adults with an ideal opportunity to both relax and 

socialise after physical activity, which can help reduce feelings of loneliness and/or social 
isolation.  Combining activities, such as a local history walk with light refreshments, could 
assist in this regard.  It is important to remain mindful, however, that provision must meet 
demand (as such initiatives will require funding), as well as offer commercial viability for 
private providers. 

 
131. Walking offers an array of health and financial-based benefits for older adults, as it can be 

undertaken at almost any place, at any time, and is generally free of charge.  The key is to 
empower people to feel motivated and that positive results can be achieved from it. 

 
132. It is important that the role and contribution of older carers is recognised and appropriate 

support provided.  This will help to ensure that their health and wellbeing can be maintained 
whilst caring for their loved ones.  

Page 26



 

19 

 

TO BE DETERMINED BY THE ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND 
SERVICES SCRUTINY PANEL ON 14 OCTOBER 2020 

 

 
133. Care homes are private entities and the Council cannot enforce the employment of 

dedicated Activities Co-ordinators within establishments, although the vast majority 
already do.  The Council does have guidelines for the number of hours of activities 
provided, and regular monitoring is undertaken in this regard. 

 
134. In encouraging older adults to visit town centre locations to increase their activity levels, it 

is important that sufficient public toilet and seating facilities are provided.  These must be 
clearly visible and easily accessible.  

 
135. Strategies and initiatives are constantly evolving in this area of work.  The opportunities 

presented by social prescribing work, for example, will help to develop support further, as 
will the development of peer-led and GP programmes (e.g. volunteer befriending; dementia 
awareness training; and signposting to appropriate activities).  To date, dementia 
awareness sessions have been very well received. 

 
136. As detailed at paragraphs 103-122, COVID-19 has impacted significantly on the work being 

undertaken by services.  In recognition of this, the Panel Members appreciate that the 
recommendations proposed below are being done so at a very difficult and ever-evolving 
time, and therefore projected timescales may require adjustment to reflect further 
Government guidance as it is received.  

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

137. As a result of the information received, and based on the conclusions above, the Adult 
Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel’s recommendations for consideration are as 
follows: 

 
 
 
 
 

 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

 
138. The Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel would like to thank the following for 

their assistance with its work: 
 

• K Bainbridge – Better Care Fund Project Manager, Middlesbrough Council; 
• R Bedford – Health and Physical Activity Development Manager, 

Middlesbrough Council; 
• J Berger – Insight and Analytics Officer, ‘You’ve Got This’ (South Tees Local 

Delivery Pilot); 
• M Fitzgerald – Programme Director, ‘You’ve Got This’ (South Tees Local 

Delivery Pilot); 
• L Grabham – Head of Strategic Commissioning and Procurement, 

Middlesbrough Council; 
• J Hartley – Programme Officer, ‘You’ve Got This’ (South Tees Local Delivery 

Pilot); 
• S Hydon – Sport and Client Relationship Manager, Middlesbrough Council; 
• S Lloyd – Advanced Public Health Practitioner, Middlesbrough Council; 
• E McInnes – Health Improvement Practitioner (Ageing Well/Dementia), 

Middlesbrough Council; 
• C Orr – Infrastructure Programme Manager, Middlesbrough Council; 
• E Scollay – Director of Adult Social Care and Health Integration, 

Middlesbrough Council; and 
• A Sykes – Chief Executive, Age UK Teesside. 

Page 27



 

20 

 

 
ACRONYMS 

 
139. A-Z listing of acronyms used in the report: 

 
• NHS – National Health Service; 
• ONS – Office for National Statistics; 
• SLM – Sport and Leisure Management; 
• ‘T.O.F.Y’ Club – ‘The Over Fifties Youth Club’; and 
• WHO – World Health Organization. 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

140. The following sources were consulted, or referred to, in preparing this report: 
 

• Reports to, and Minutes of, the Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny 
Panel meetings held on 16 September 2019, 16 October 2019,  
13 November 2019, 18 December 2019 and 22 January 2020. 
 

• Ageing Better Middlesbrough, 
2020, https://www.ageingbettermiddlesbrough.org.uk/ - accessed January 
2020. 

 
• Age UK, 2015, ‘Older People’s Independence and Mental Wellbeing’,  

https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-
publications/consultation-responses-and-submissions/health--
wellbeing/crs_july15_older_peoples_independence_and_mental_wellbeing.
pdf - accessed November 2019. 
 

• Age UK, 2019, ‘Changes to State Pension 
Age’, https://www.ageuk.org.uk/information-advice/money-
legal/pensions/state-pension/changes-to-state-pension-age/ - accessed 
November 2019. 
 

• BBC, 2020, ‘The Town Paying for People Over 65 to Get 
Fit’, https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/stories-51389184/the-town-paying-for-
people-over-65-to-get-fit - accessed February 2020. 

 
• British Heart Foundation, 2017, ‘Physical Inactivity and Sedentary 

Behaviour Report 
2017’, https://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/publications/statistics/phys
ical-inactivity-report-2017 - accessed January 2020. 
 

• British Heart Foundation, 2019, ‘Activity Tips for 65 and 
Over’, https://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/support/healthy-
living/staying-active/activity-tips-for-65-and-over - accessed September 
2019. 

 
• Burkhardt, J., and Rhodes, J., 2012, ‘Dance Active: Commissioning Dance 

for Health and Well-being – Guidance and Resources for 
Commissioners’, https://www.pdsw.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/04/Breathe-Commissioning-Dance-for-Health-
Wellbeing-Guide-for-Commissioners-by-Jan-Burkhardt-2012.pdf - accessed 
November 2019.  

 
• Department of Health and Social Care, 2019a, ‘UK Chief Medical Officers' 

Physical Activity 

Page 28

https://www.ageingbettermiddlesbrough.org.uk/
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/consultation-responses-and-submissions/health--wellbeing/crs_july15_older_peoples_independence_and_mental_wellbeing.pdf
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/consultation-responses-and-submissions/health--wellbeing/crs_july15_older_peoples_independence_and_mental_wellbeing.pdf
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/consultation-responses-and-submissions/health--wellbeing/crs_july15_older_peoples_independence_and_mental_wellbeing.pdf
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/globalassets/age-uk/documents/reports-and-publications/consultation-responses-and-submissions/health--wellbeing/crs_july15_older_peoples_independence_and_mental_wellbeing.pdf
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/information-advice/money-legal/pensions/state-pension/changes-to-state-pension-age/
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/information-advice/money-legal/pensions/state-pension/changes-to-state-pension-age/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/stories-51389184/the-town-paying-for-people-over-65-to-get-fit
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/stories-51389184/the-town-paying-for-people-over-65-to-get-fit
https://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/publications/statistics/physical-inactivity-report-2017
https://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/publications/statistics/physical-inactivity-report-2017
https://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/support/healthy-living/staying-active/activity-tips-for-65-and-over%20-%20accessed%20September%202019
https://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/support/healthy-living/staying-active/activity-tips-for-65-and-over%20-%20accessed%20September%202019
https://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/support/healthy-living/staying-active/activity-tips-for-65-and-over%20-%20accessed%20September%202019
https://www.pdsw.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Breathe-Commissioning-Dance-for-Health-Wellbeing-Guide-for-Commissioners-by-Jan-Burkhardt-2012.pdf
https://www.pdsw.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Breathe-Commissioning-Dance-for-Health-Wellbeing-Guide-for-Commissioners-by-Jan-Burkhardt-2012.pdf
https://www.pdsw.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Breathe-Commissioning-Dance-for-Health-Wellbeing-Guide-for-Commissioners-by-Jan-Burkhardt-2012.pdf


 

21 

 

Guidelines’, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/sy
stem/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-
physical-activity-guidelines.pdf - accessed November 2019. 

 
• Department of Health and Social Care, 2019b, ‘Physical Activity Guidelines: 

Infographics’, https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-activity-
guidelines-infographics - accessed December 2019. 

 
• Local Government Association, 2019, ‘Prevention’, 

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/our-improvement-offer/care-and-
health-improvement/integration-and-better-care-fund/better-care-
fund/integration-resource-library/prevention - accessed 10 October 2019. 
 

• Middlesbrough Council, 2016, ‘Middlesbrough Prevention Strategy: Adults 
and Older People 2016-2020’, Middlesbrough, UK. 

 
• Middlesbrough Council, 2019, ‘Care Homes Brochure for Older People: 1st 

April 2019 to 31st March 2020’, Middlesbrough, UK. 
 

• Middlesbrough Council, 2020, ‘Strategic Plan 2020-2023’, Middlesbrough, 
UK. 

 
• NHS England, 2018, ‘Exercise As You Get Older’, 

https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/exercise/exercise-as-you-get-older/ - accessed 
July 2019. 
 

• NHS England, 2019a, ‘Improving Care for Older 
People’, https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/clinical-policy/older-
people/improving-care-for-older-people/ - accessed September 2019. 
 

• NHS England, 2019b, ‘Physical Activity Guidelines for Older 
Adults’, https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/exercise/physical-activity-guidelines-
older-adults/ - accessed November 2019. 

 
• NHS, 2020, ‘Prevention’, https://www.healthyshetland.com/about-

us/prevention - accessed January 2020. 
 

• ONS, 2019a, ‘Living Longer: Is Age 70 the New Age 65?’, 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandma
rriages/ageing/articles/livinglongerisage70thenewage65/2019-11-19#when-
does-older-age-begin - accessed December 2019. 

 
• ONS, 2019b, ‘Overview of the UK population: August 2019’, 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigr
ation/populationestimates/articles/overviewoftheukpopulation/august2019 - 
accessed December 2019.  

 
• ONS, 2019c, ‘Labour Market Profile – Middlesbrough: Population Estimates 

– Local Authority Based by Five Year Age 
Band’, https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157060/report.aspx
?town=middlesbrough - accessed January 2020. 

 
• Public Health England, 2019, ‘Physical Activity: Applying All Our Health’,  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-activity-applying-all-
our-health/physical-activity-applying-all-our-health - accessed October 
2019. 
 

Page 29

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/our-improvement-offer/care-and-health-improvement/integration-and-better-care-fund/better-care-fund/integration-resource-library/prevention
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/our-improvement-offer/care-and-health-improvement/integration-and-better-care-fund/better-care-fund/integration-resource-library/prevention
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/our-improvement-offer/care-and-health-improvement/integration-and-better-care-fund/better-care-fund/integration-resource-library/prevention
https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/exercise/exercise-as-you-get-older/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/clinical-policy/older-people/improving-care-for-older-people/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/clinical-policy/older-people/improving-care-for-older-people/
https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/exercise/physical-activity-guidelines-older-adults/
https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/exercise/physical-activity-guidelines-older-adults/
https://www.healthyshetland.com/about-us/prevention
https://www.healthyshetland.com/about-us/prevention
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ageing/articles/livinglongerisage70thenewage65/2019-11-19#when-does-older-age-begin
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ageing/articles/livinglongerisage70thenewage65/2019-11-19#when-does-older-age-begin
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ageing/articles/livinglongerisage70thenewage65/2019-11-19#when-does-older-age-begin
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157060/report.aspx?town=middlesbrough
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157060/report.aspx?town=middlesbrough


 

22 

 

• Public Health South Tees et al., 2020, ‘Steady on Your Feet’ (Falls 
Prevention Tool)’, https://steadyonyourfeet.org/ - accessed October 2020. 
 

 
• Ramblers, 2020, ‘Health Benefits’, https://www.ramblers.org.uk/advice/facts-

and-stats-about-walking/health-benefits-of-walking.aspx - accessed January 
2020. 

 
• The Guardian, 2019, ‘Nearly One in Seven Britons Could Live Alone by 

2039, Study 
Shows’, https://www.theguardian.com/society/2019/apr/04/nearly-one-in-
seven-britons-could-live-alone-2039-study-shows - accessed November 
2019. 

 
• World Health Organization, 2019, ‘Physical Activity and Older 

Adults’, https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/factsheet_olderadults/en/ - 
accessed July 2019. 

 
• World Health Organization, 2020, ‘Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity 

and Health: Physical Activity’, https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/pa/en/ 
- accessed January 2020. 

 

COUNCILLOR JIM PLATT 
CHAIR OF THE ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND SERVICES SCRUTINY PANEL – 

2019/2020 
 
 
PANEL MEMBERSHIP 

 
The Membership of the Scrutiny Panel for 2020/2021 is as follows: 
  
Councillors J Platt (Chair), S Hill (Vice-Chair), J Goodchild, D Jones, G Purvis, D Rooney,  
J Walker and G Wilson. 

 
The Membership of the Scrutiny Panel for 2019/2020 is as follows: 
  
Councillors J Platt (Chair), S Hill (Vice-Chair; part year), D Smith (Vice-Chair; part year),  
C Cooke (part year), L Garvey (part year), J Goodchild, D Jones, L Lewis, G Purvis (part 
year), J Walker and G Wilson.  

 
Contact Officers: 

 
Chris Lunn 
Democratic Services Officer 
Telephone: 01642 729742 (direct line) 
E-mail: chris_lunn@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 
Susie Blood 
Democratic Services Officer 
Telephone: 01642 729742 (direct line) 
E-mail: susie_blood@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 30

https://www.ramblers.org.uk/advice/facts-and-stats-about-walking/health-benefits-of-walking.aspx
https://www.ramblers.org.uk/advice/facts-and-stats-about-walking/health-benefits-of-walking.aspx
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2019/apr/04/nearly-one-in-seven-britons-could-live-alone-2039-study-shows
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2019/apr/04/nearly-one-in-seven-britons-could-live-alone-2039-study-shows
https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/factsheet_olderadults/en/
https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/pa/en/
mailto:chris_lunn@middlesbrough.gov.uk
mailto:chris_lunn@middlesbrough.gov.uk


APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1: The Health Benefits of Physical Activity – Fig. 1 

 

 

(Source: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-activity-applying-all-our-health/physical-activity-applying-all-our-health) 
 
 

20

P
age 31

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-activity-applying-all-our-health/physical-activity-applying-all-our-health


Appendix 2: The Health Benefits of Physical Activity – Fig. 2 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

       

 

 

(Source: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-activity-guidelines-infographics) 

 

21 

Page 32

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/physical-activity-guidelines-infographics


Active at Home
A guide to being active at home 
during the coronavirus outbreak

Appendix 3: Public Health England - Active at Home Booklet 

Page 33



2

Page 34



3

Who is this booklet for?

Why is it important to stay active?

This booklet has been devel-
oped to support older people 
and those who are shielded to 
be active and healthy at home.

This is part of the Sport England Join 
the Movement campaign designed 
to provide inspiration and trusted 
information to the public about how 
to get active in and around the home 
during the coronavirus pandemic.

Being active is good for our physical and mental 
wellbeing. This is why we should all try to move regularly, including 
exercises to help stay strong and steady. This particularly applies 
to those of us who have health conditions or are older. Due to 
coronavirus we are all spending more time within our home, so it is 
important that we find ways to build activity into our day, every day.

Over the next few weeks, you may have health and social care 
appointments cancelled or delayed. If you are waiting for 
treatment, being active is one of the best things you 
can do to look after your health, as part of a healthy 
lifestyle. Being active at a level that feels comfortable is unlikely 
to make your health worse; in fact it can help to manage many 
health conditions. 

Page 35



4

Most of us are spending much more time within our home. This 
can be frustrating and upsetting, and it can be harder to be active 
when you can’t do your normal daily activities. This guide will 
help you to find ways to build activity into your day. If the exercise 
suggested doesn’t work for you, feel free to adapt them based on 
what you can do.
 
Being active every day can help to:

Keep your 
spirits up

Stay at a  
healthy weight

Keep your 
bowels regular

Get a good  
night’s sleep

Reduce risk of 
falls & fractures

Reduce risk of 
heart attack, 

stroke, diabetes & 
some cancers

Stay 
independent

Keep you steady 
on your feet

Prevent many 
health conditions 
from worsening

Page 36



5

The two key activity types that help are:

Safety

Being active is safe for the vast majority of people and it 
has many benefits for your health and wellbeing. 

There are some small steps you can take to reduce the chance of 
problems occurring when you are exercising in and around the home. 

Most people can exercise without speaking to a doctor first, 
especially if their medical condition is under control. However, if you 
get any symptoms from a heart, kidney or metabolic condition you 
should phone your healthcare professional to check before you start.

1. Prepare your exercise space by clearing away  
unnecessary clutter

2. Keep something sturdy and solid nearby for support  
(for example a kitchen work surface) 

Strength and balance 
exercises

These are specific exercises 
that will help you to stay 
strong and steady your feet

Aerobic exercise

This is activity that warms you 
up and gets you breathing 
slightly harder, it will help you 
to stay fit and well

Page 37



6

3. Have a glass of water ready to sip as you exercise

4. Wear well-fitting, supportive shoes that are done up, and
comfortable clothing

5. If you are exercising on your own, keep a telephone nearby,
just in case you need it

6. Set the pace, start exercise at a level that you find easy and
build up gradually

7. If you experience acute or severe pain anywhere or dizziness
then stop and rest

8. It is common for muscles to feel a bit stiff for a few days after
you have used them - this is a normal response and shows
that your body is responding to the increased movement

9. Try not to hold your breath as you exercise, breathe normally
throughout

Recap of key points

Exercise is 
safe and 

helpful for 
most people

Try to be 
active every 

day

Try to do 
strength and 

balance 
exercises 2-3 
times each 

week
Page 38



7

Strength and balance exercises

Seated Exercises

Muscles, bones and joints like to be moved, lack of 
movement causes your muscles to waste away quickly 
and this affects your strength and your balance. 

The exercises below will help you to stay strong and steady. Aim 
to do these exercises 2-3 times throughout the week. You can 
spilt them up and do them a few at a time throughout the day, at 
a time that works for you. Remember to start small and build up 
gradually, as the exercises begin to feel easier you can increase the 
repetitions to 8-10. If you want to make it harder still, you can build 
up to 3 sets of 8-10 repetitions for each exercise.

Strength exercises can be done in sitting or standing. If you can’t 
stand comfortably or safely, then choose the seated option.

Always warm up before you start

Sit up straight in a supportive chair, take 2-3 deep breaths in and 
out to calm the mind and body in preparation for the exercises.

Heel lifts Chair marching

Lift heels off the floor, then 
place them back down. Lift 
toes off floor then place down. 
Do these slowly and fully.

30 seconds

Lift one leg at a time, as if 
marching. You can add your 
arms in too, if comfortable.

30 secondsPage 39



8

Exercises

Arm raises

Raise your arms out to the side 
and above your head, then 
slowly lower back down. Start 
with 3 then build up.

Make this harder by 
going very slowly and hold for 1 
second at the top before you 
lower your arm down.

Alternate leg extensions

Straighten out one leg in front of you, 
then lower slowly back down. Start 
with 3 each leg then build up.

Make this harder by lifting 
the leg slightly off the chair as 
you straighten it.

Arm curls

Keep elbows into your sides, bend 
one arm up, then slowly lower. 
Alternate sides. Start with 3 
repetitions on each side.

Make this harder by holding a small 
weight, bottle of water or tin of food.

By the end of the warm up you should feel warmer and be 
breathing a little harder.

Page 40



9

Cool down

Let your breathing settle and enjoy the feeling of accomplishment!

Hamstring stretch
Feel gentle stretch at 

back of thigh
Hold for 20 

seconds

Chest opening
Feel gentle stretch 
across your chest

Hold for 20 
seconds

Breathe
3 deep breaths in 

and out

Standing Exercises

Always warm up before you start

Remember to have something sturdy, like a work surface, next to 
you. Use it to stay steady and safe.

Slow march on 
spot, gradually 
lifting the knees 
slightly higher, 
or by marching 
a little faster 
and adding 
arms in.
30 seconds 3 each way

Marching Shoulder rolls

You should feel warmer and be breathing a little harder now.Page 41



10

Exercises

Mini squats

Stand tall, slowly bend your knees 
keeping your body upright. Push 
up and return to standing
Start with 3 repetitions then 
build up.

Make this harder by going a 
further into the squat, and holding 
for longer.

Small lunges

Take a small step forward and 
bend both knees. Push back into 
standing. Start with 3 repetitions 
each leg and build up.

Make this harder by 
stepping further forward, 
ensuring you return from the lunge 
position in one steady step 
backwards.

Wall press up

Slowly bend both arms so that 
your nose moves closer to the 
wall. Slowly push back into 
standing. Start with 3 repetitions 
then build up.

Make this harder by 
moving very slowly and smoothly.Page 42



11

Heel/toe raises

Push up onto your toes, 
keeping bottom in, then slowly lower 
back down. Do these slowly whilst 
maintaining good posture. Start with 
3 repetitions and build up.

Make this harder by 
lowering down very slowly.

Sideways leg lift

Lift one leg slowly out to the side 
keeping your upper body straight. 
Slowly lower back down. Start with 3 
repetitions each leg then build up.

Make this harder by 
moving the leg very slowly.

Cool down

Let your breathing settle and enjoy the feeling of accomplishment!

Hamstring stretch
Hold for 20 seconds

Chest opening
Hold for 20 seconds

Breathe
3 deep breathsPage 43



12

Ways to build activity into your day

Cleaning Dancing

Stretching regularly

Gardening Going up and 
down stairs

As well as doing these exercises 2-3 times a week, try to avoid 
any long periods of inactivity and find ways to build 
movement into your day, every day. Any movement is good, 
particularly if it makes you feel a little bit warm and makes you 
breathe a little faster.

Here are some ideas of ways to stay active at home:

Page 44



13

Staying healthy

A few other things that will help you to stay as healthy 
and happy as possible during this period:

Wash your hands
using soap and hot water, for at least 20 
seconds, regularly throughout the day

Limit intake
of foods and drinks that are high in fat,  
salt and sugar

Consider taking a Vitamin D supplement
of 10 micrograms a day for healthy muscles and 
bones, if you aren’t often outdoors

Stick to regular mealtimes and eat a balanced diet that 
includes a variety of:

• fruit and vegetables (fresh, frozen, tinned, dried or juice)
• starchy foods (bread, cereals, potatoes, pasta or rice)
• beans, pulses, fish and meat
• two portions of fish per week, one of which should be oily
• dairy products (milk, yogurt, cheese)
• oils and spreads (choose unsaturated and use in moderation)

If you are struggling to eat well, switch to smaller meals and 
frequent snacks

Stay connected
with phone calls, letters, emails, text 
messages or a cheery wave from the window

Page 45



14

Take your prescription medicine
regularly and ensure that you have at least two 
weeks’ supply

Prioritise your sleep
going to bed and waking up at a regular time 
can really help and make sure you give yourself 
time to wind down before bed

Stay hydrated
by aiming to drink 6 - 8 glasses of water a day

Limit alcohol and don’t smoke
Limit your alcohol intake to no more than (and 
ideally less than) 14 units in a week, and support 
is available to help you stop smoking too

Keep your mind active
with crosswords, puzzles and letter writing

It is normal to feel worried and anxious
about yourself and your loved ones during the coronavirus 
outbreak. Focus on the things you can control rather than the 
things you can’t. This might mean focusing on getting 
into a routine and taking small practical steps each day 
to do what you need to do. Stick to trusted sources of 
information and if news stories make you feel anxious, think 
about switching off for a while.

If you have coronavirus symptoms 
(new persistent cough and/or high temperature) 

and need help, or have been told to report 
symptoms, visit www.111.nhs.uk or call NHS 111Page 46



15

Planning your day

The days can feel very long when you are at home so much. 
Having a couple of goals each day and planning your day in 
advance can help; it will remind you to move around during the day 
too. Here’s an example:

1) Write letter to Joy
2) Tidy kitchen drawers

Get up and get dressed
10 minutes of exercise

Breakfast
Tidy and dust one room
Puzzles or letter writing
10 minutes of exercise
Favourite TV programme or radio

Lunch
Weed and water pots
Hobbies like sewing, DIY, reading
10 minutes of exercise
Prep for teatime

Tea
Deep breaths and relaxation
Phone a friend or family member
Relax, it’s been a busy day!

Try to do things that you LOVE to do, 
as well as the things you NEED to do

Page 47



16

Staying safe at home

Moving around less can make you less steady on your feet. Falls 
are common and can result in injury and frustrating periods of 
reduced independence. 

Simple tips to make your home safer:

• use a nightlight in the bedroom, a bedside light or a torch by 
the bed in case you need to get up in the night

• when you first wake up, sit on the edge of the bed and do a few 
seconds of marching with the legs to get the blood flowing. This 
will reduce your chance of dizziness when you stand up

• keep stairs and steps free of clutter

• keep floors clear of trailing wires, wrinkled or fraying rugs and 
carpets, or anything else you might trip or slip on

• keep active – strength and balance exercises have the best 
effect for making you steadier on your feet

• stand up slowly if you have been sitting for a while, and count 
to 10 before setting off

What to do if you fall

If you do have a fall, lie still for a minute, try to stay 
calm and check yourself for injuries. 

If you know you can’t get up, or feel pain in your hip or back, then 
try to call for help using your phone or pendant alarm, or by Page 48



17

banging on radiators or walls until help arrives. Try to keep warm 
by covering yourself with whatever is close by, keep moving your 
limbs and roll from side to side if you are able to. If you need urgent 
medical help, you should call 111 or in an emergency 999. 

If you are unhurt and think you can get up, then  
you should:

1. Roll onto your side, and then push up onto your elbows

2. Use your arms to push yourself onto your hands and knees

3. Crawl towards a very stable piece of furniture (a sturdy chair or 
bed) and hold onto it for support

4. Slide or raise the foot of your stronger leg forwards so it’s flat on 
the floor

5. Lean forwards and push up using your arms and front leg, 
slowly rising to a standing position

6. Turn around and sit down. Sit for a minute or two and catch 
your breath.

Even if you are unhurt, make sure that you tell a 
healthcare professional or carer that you have fallen.

Page 49



18

NHS 111 
111 or 111.nhs.uk
If you have any concerns  
about your health

Rethink Mental Illness 
advice and help line 
0808 801 0440
For support with issues related 
to mental health and wellbeing

Citizens Advice 
03444 113 111
Provides support and 
assistance on a wide  
range of issues

Age UK 
0800 169 65 65
Provides advice and information 
for older people

Silver Line Helpline 
0800 470 80 90
If you are aged 55 or over, call 
for a cheerful chat, day or night.

Samaritans 
116 123
If you want to talk through any 
concerns, worries and troubles

Useful contacts

Useful websites

We Are Undefeatable www.weareundefeatable.co.uk 
Support for those of us with health conditions to become more active

Join the Movement
www.sportengland.org/news/join-movement
Ideas for all on how to stay active during the coronavirus outbreak

10 Today https://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p087wddm 
Includes short ten minute routines to get you stretching and moving

Local information:

Page 50



We would value your feedback on this booklet.

If you are happy to be contacted please text the word 
ACTIVE to 07860 033 611 by 31 August 2020.

We will then get in contact with you via your mobile phone. 
You can opt out at any time without giving any reason.

It is really important that we let you know that text messages to 
this number are charged at your standard text messaging rate. 
You will also still be charged if you text after the deadline. Texts 
sent without the keyword or where the keyword is misspelt 
will not reach us and will still be charged. All information will 
be handled in accordance with Sheffield Hallam University’s 
information governance policy and we will never share your 
data with third parties

19

Page 51



20

This booklet has been jointly prepared by Public Health England, Sheffield 
Hallam University (SHU) and the National Centre for Sport & Exercise 
Medicine (NCSEM) to provide useful information to support people to stay 
physically active during isolation. PHE, SHU & NCSEM have taken their 
reasonable endeavours to ensure that the content of this booklet is, to the 
best of their knowledge, accurate at the time of print ing. 

Before following any exercise or health guidelines, consult with a 
health professional if you: consider it necessary; have any concerns 
about your health; or are not sure whether the exercises are suitable.

PHE, SHU & NCSEM cannot be held liable or responsible for any injury, 
loss or damage of any kind (including, any direct, special, indirect 
or consequential damages) arising out of or in connection with the 
use of this booklet. The mentioning or inclusion of any trade names, 
websites, companies, or reference to any products or services or 
publications does not necessarily constitute or imply an endorsement or 
recommendation by PHE, SHU, NCSEM or Sport England. 

Page 52



1 
 

 
MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 

 
ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND SERVICES SCRUTINY PANEL 

 

 
Adult Social Care and Services Panel’s Work Programme 

2020/21- further discussion 

 
14 OCTOBER 2020 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1. To discuss the Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny’s Work programme.  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
2. At the start of every municipal year, scrutiny panels discuss the topics that they would like to 

review during the coming year. 
 

3. The Panel at its meeting on 29 July 2020 agreed to examine the following topics: 
 

 
Full reviews (carry over from - 2019/20) 
 

 Physical Activity for Older People (aged 65+) 

 ‘Palliative and End of Life Care’ 
 

 
 
4. The Panel also agreed that they would like receive information at one off meetings in relation 

to: 
 

 Support for Carers (paid and unpaid) 

 Impact of Covid -19 on Vulnerable adults 
 
 
Further meetings 

 
5. The Panel will be considering the final report on Physical Activity for Older People (aged 

65+), along with the draft recommendations on 14 October 2020. 
 

6. Following on from a visit at the Overview and Scrutiny Board, the Panel has agreed to 
reconsider the action plan in relation to reducing loneliness and/or social isolation in later life, 
whilst asking officers to focus on the impact Covid-19 as has on social isolation. This has 
been scheduled for the meeting on 11 November 2020. 
 

7. At this meeting, the Panel will also receive an update in relation to ‘Ageing Better 
Middlesbrough (ABM) – Update and Future/Legacy Planning, which will be presented by 
Michelle Dawson (ABM’s Programme Manager). 
 
 
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

 
Updates 
 

8. In respect of previous reviews, the Scrutiny Panel can request updates on the progress 
made with the implementation of Scrutiny recommendations. The Panel is yet to receive an 
initial update in respect of: 
 

 The LGB&T Community and Elderly Care. 
 

 
9. With this in mind, the below table provides a schedule of dates and possible topics for 

discussion (please note depending on the outcomes of discussions, these topics may carry 
forward to subsequent meetings). 

 
 

Date of meetings Topic/ discussion 

 
11 November 2020 

 
Update on ‘Ageing Better Middlesbrough 
(ABM) – Update and Future/Legacy Planning 
and reducing loneliness and/or social 
isolation in later life 
 

 
9 December 2020 (1.30pm start) 

 
Possible joint meeting with Health Scrutiny 
Panel to discuss Palliative Care * subject to 
availability of Chief Executive of Teesside 
Hospice. 
 

 
13 January 2021 
 

 
To be determined by the Panel 
 

 
10 February 2021 (1.30pm start) 

 
To be determined by the Panel 
 

 
10 March 2021 

 
To be determined by the Panel 
 

 
14 April 2021 
 

 
To be determined by the Panel 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
10. That the scrutiny panel discuss the agreed work programme and identify dates for items to 

be discussed. 
 
Contact Officer 
Susie Blood 
Democratic Services Officer 
Democratic Services 
Tel: 01642 729645 
Email: Susie_blood@middlesbrough.gov.uk 

Page 54

mailto:Susie_blood@middlesbrough.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes- Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel - 16 September 2020
	5 'Physical Activity for Older People (Aged 65-Plus)' - Draft Final Report
	ADPECF8.tmp
	PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	AIMS OF THE INVESTIGATION
	MAYOR’S PRIORITIES
	STRATEGIC PLAN 2020-2023
	TERMS OF REFERENCE
	SETTING THE SCENE
	BACKGROUND INFORMATION
	TERM OF REFERENCE A:
	TERM OF REFERENCE B:
	TERM OF REFERENCE C:
	UPDATE – SEPTEMBER 2020 – COVID-19
	CONCLUSIONS
	RECOMMENDATIONS
	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
	ACRONYMS
	BACKGROUND PAPERS
	PANEL MEMBERSHIP
	APPENDICES


	6 Scrutiny work programme

	Text1: 


